
Any party needing an accommodation contact the Planning & Development Department at  

(860) 871-3601 or via email @mdamato@tolland.org 

The Town of Tolland is an Equal Opportunity/Affirmative Action Employer. 

 

Agenda 

Tolland Inland Wetlands Commission 
Thursday, January 19, 2023 at 7:00 p.m. 

Council Chambers, 6th level, 21 Tolland Green, Tolland, CT 06084 

 

 

1. Call to Order 

 

2. Seating of Alternate(s)  

 

3. Public Participation – Issues of concern not on the Agenda (2 minute limit) 

 

4. Additions/Changes to Agenda 

 

5. New Business 

 

5.1 IWC 18-1, 131 Tolland Stage Road Extension–  Applicant: Couzens Centre II, LLC. 

 

5.2 Show Cause Hearing to consider a Cease & Correct Order issued to the property owner of 12 

Goose Lane (MBL 28/C/007) for the deposition of material/filling activities within the 

wetland and upland review area without a permit. 

 

6. Old Business 

 

7. Wetlands Agent Report 

 

8. Other Business 

 

9. Correspondence 

 

9.1 Connecticut Bar Association Education and Training. 

 

9.2 Solitude Lake Management Permit Application to DEEP 

 

10. Approval of Minutes – December 15, 2022 Regular Meeting 

 

11. Adjournment 

To join the Zoom Meeting, either click: 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/8608713602?pwd=cXZLNG9SWVlvNkNjZU9NYUxCd2xiUT09 

One tap mobile: +16469313860,,8608713602#,,,,*06084#  

Or call: 1-929-205-6099 and input: 

Meeting ID: 860 871 3602 

Passcode: 06084 

 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/8608713602?pwd=cXZLNG9SWVlvNkNjZU9NYUxCd2xiUT09


IWC Extension.doc  

Equal Opportunity Employer 

GARDNER & PETERSON ASSOCIATES, LLC 

•    

178 HARTFORD TURNPIKE 

TOLLAND, CONNECTICUT 06084 
 

 
KENNETH R. PETERSON, L.S. 

ERIC R. PETERSON, P.E., L.S. 

MARK A. PETERSON, P.E. 

 

TELEPHONE: (860) 871-0808 

www.GardnerPeterson.cm 

info@GardnerPeterson.com 

 

 

 
 
January 5, 2023 
 
Mr. Raymond Culver, Chairman 
Tolland Inland Wetland Commission 
21 Tolland Green 
Tolland, Connecticut 06084 
 
Re: 131 Tolland Stage Road 
  
Dear Chairman Culver and commissioners, 
 
On March 15, 2018 the commission granted an inland wetland approval on 
behalf of my client, Couzens Centre II, LLC for activities associated with the 
construction of a new building.  The Permit will expire on March 15, 2023 and I 
hereby request a 5 year extension for Couzens Centre II, LLC.  
 
 
 
Please contact me with any questions. 
 

 
Mark A. Peterson P.E. 

















CBA EDUCATION & TRAINING

Planning & Zoning

Connecticut
Land Use Law 
for Municipal 
Land Use
Agencies,
Boards, and
Commissions
Saturday, March 11, 2023
9:00 a.m. – 4:30 p.m.

Webinar
This is a virtual meeting and will be accessible via 
Zoom. Zoom is a cloud-based platform for video and 
audio conferencing. It can be accessed through a 
browser on any device, or the Zoom app.

To receive your Webinar Link, you must provide 
your e-mail address when you register.

To receive your printed course material, in a 
timely manner, please register by February 15th.

This program conforms to the statutory guidelines for planning and/or zoning 
commission and zoning board of appeals member training. This program 
fulfills general training requirements and half of the required one hour of 
training concerning affordable housing and fair housing policies. Note: the 
Office of Policy and Management does not certify individual programs.

Sponsored by the 
Connecticut Bar Association
Planning and Zoning Section



 

Connecticut Land Use 
Law for Municipal Land 
Use Agencies, Boards, 
and Commissions

The future of Connecticut’s communities 
will be shaped by its land use laws and 
regulations. Developers, neighbors, and 
preservationists all intersect before municipal 
land use boards and commissions, advocating 
their particular interests and approaches. 
Each commission member regularly has 
to make critical decisions, all within the 
context of complicated statutory and 
case law.

This introductory level course will 
focus on topics of immediate concern  
to all municipal land use agencies, boards, 
commissions, and their staffs. The topics 
reflect both timely and practical situations, 
confronting participants at every level of the 
municipal land use process. This course will 
provide a broad review of the municipal land 
use process, including zoning, planning, 
zoning board of appeals, and wetlands  
issues. Members of municipal land use 
agencies, boards, and commissions, as  
well as municipal planners, enforcement 
officers, and engineers will benefit from  
this full day course.



Seminar Program
9:00 a.m. – 9:10 a.m. 
Welcome
Atty. Jason A. Klein, Stamford
Chair, CBA Planning and Zoning Section

9:10 a.m. – 9:40 a.m. 
Planning Commissions
Atty. Amy E. Souchuns, Milford
This session will cover powers of the 
planning commission, plan of development, 
statutory notice requirements, subdivisions 
and resubdivisions, multi-agency approvals, 
reasons for denial, open space, changes 
in regulations, bonding requirements, 
conditional approvals, and mandating off-site 
improvements.

9:40 a.m. – 10:10 a.m. 
Zoning Commissions
Atty. Marjorie F. Shansky, New Haven
This session will cover enabling legislation, 
powers of zoning commissions and 
proper purposes and goals of zoning, the 
comprehensive plan, proper notices of 
hearings, designating and amending zoning 
districts, spot zoning, floating zones, the 
uniformity requirement, dependence upon 
other governmental agency action, rendering 
decisions, and publications of notices of 
decisions.

10:10 a.m. – 10:20 a.m. 
Break

10:20 a.m. – 10:50 a.m. 
Non-Conforming Uses
Atty. Christopher J. Smith, Hartford
This session will entail a general discussion 
of the origin, scope, and problems of non-
conforming uses.



10:50 a.m. – 11:20 a.m.
Special Permit and Site Plan Review
Atty. Brian R. Smith, Hartford
This session will cover statutory requirements 
and the distinction between special permit and 
site plan review, and appeals from decisions 
on applications for special permit and site plan 
approval.
 
11:20 a.m. – 11:50 a.m. 
Zoning Board of Appeals
Atty. Dorian R. Famiglietti, Vernon
This session will cover functions of zoning 
boards of appeal, variances, legal requisites 
for hardship, including issues of confiscation 
and self-created hardships, other statutory 
duties of the ZBA, and hearing procedures.

12:00 p.m. – 12:30 p.m. 
The 2020 ZiPLeR Awards
Atty. Dwight H. Merriam, FAICP, CRE, 
Weatogue

12:30 p.m. – 1:00 p.m. 
Wetlands Law and Procedure 
Atty. Michael A. Zizka, Hartford
This session will cover a review of procedures 
of municipal inland wetlands and watercourse 
agencies, and how wetlands law impacts the 
zoning and planning process.

1:00 p.m. – 1:30 p.m.
Conflict of Interest and Predisposition
Atty. Richard P. Roberts, Hartford
This session will cover statutory provisions 
on conflict of interest, rules governing 
predisposition and predetermination, court 
decisions on conflict of interest, drawing the 
line between cases where disqualification 
applies and does not apply, and procedural 
problems when a question of conflict arises.



1:30 p.m. – 2:00 p.m.
Procedural Issues in the Municipal Land 
Use Process
Atty. Peter S. Olson, Bethel
This session will cover a review of statutory 
provisions and case law concerning 
administrative process, applications; 
conducting a public hearing; creating the 
administrative record, and making appropriate 
findings and conclusions to support decisions.

2:00 p.m. – 2:10 p.m. 
Break

2:10 p.m. – 2:40 p.m.
Affordable Housing: The Municipal 
Perspective
Atty. Ira W. Bloom, Westport
This session will cover a review of an 
application filed under Section 8-30g of the 
General Statutes from the Planning & Zoning 
Commission perspective, including practical 
advice and a review of the relevant case law.
 
2:40 p.m. – 3:10 p.m. 
Things to Watch out For:
Fair Housing Act, Religious Land Use and 
Institutionalized Persons Act (RLUIPA)
Atty. Jason A. Klein, Stamford
This session will cover a review of the 
implications of federal legislation on local 
zoning, particularly the Fair Housing Act and 
the Religious Land Use and Institutionalized 
Persons Act (RLUIPA) as well as state law 
considerations regarding religious expression 
and free speech issues.

3:10 p.m. – 3:40 p.m. 
Enforcement
Atty. Charles R. Andres, New Haven
This session will cover analysis and discussion 
of Connecticut law concerning enforcement 
through the zoning, planning, and wetlands 
process.



Please Note:
This program is available only to members  
of municipal land use agencies and their 
support staff.

Refunds of seminar fees will not be granted 
for cancellations after the course material is 
mailed out.

To receive your printed course material, in a  
timely manner, please register by February 15th.

To receive your webinar link, you must provide your 
e-mail address when you register.        

This is a virtual meeting and will be accessible  
via Zoom. Zoom is a cloud-based platform for 
video and audio conferencing. It can be  
accessed through a browser on any device,  
or the Zoom app.

3:40 p.m. – 4:10 p.m. 
Environmental Interventions 
Atty. Janet P. Brooks, East Berlin
This session will cover interventions under 
Conn. Gen. Stat. Section 22a-19 for the 
purpose of raising environmental issues: what 
they are, what they do, and what you have to 
do when you get one.

4:10 p.m. - 4:30 p.m. 
Q&A

Short Term Rentals (Written material)
Atty. Dwight H. Merriam, FAICP, CRE, 
Weatogue



Registration Form
Connecticut Land Use Law Seminar 
Saturday, March 11, 2023

To Register 
To receive your printed course material, in a timely manner, 
please register by February 15th. 
To receive your webinar link, you must provide your e-mail 
address when you register.             

•	 Visit ctbar.org/LandUse2023 to register online
•	 Mail the completed form to: 
    Connecticut Bar Association, 30 Bank St, New Britain, CT 06051

•	 Fax the completed form to (860) 223-4488
•	 Call (860) 223-4400

Payment must accompany registration.

(Please use a separate registration form for each registrant)

     Yes, I will attend the Virtual Connecticut Land Use Law Seminar    
     $45.00 (includes printed copy of materials)

     No, I cannot attend the seminar, but would like to  
     purchase _____ copies of the seminar materials 
     $45.00 per copy (includes shipping and handling)

Please PRINT full name.

Name:

Municipal Agency: 

E-mail:

Shipping Address:

City:                                            

State:                 Zip:

Phone:

Fax:

Payment Method

      Check (payable to Connecticut Bar Association)

     Visa       MC       Amex      Discover    Amount: $

Card #:

Exp. Date:				    CVV:

Billing Zip Code:

Signature:

Meeting code: #SPZ230311

































Tolland Inland Wetlands Commission 

Remote - Zoom 

Thursday, December 15, 2022 

 

Members Present:  Raymond Culver, Chairman 

Todd Penney, Vice Chairman 

Archie Tanner, Regular 

Bob Ross, Regular 

Gary Hoehne, Regular (arrived late) 

 

Members Absent:  None  

 

Others present: Michael D’Amato, interim Wetlands Agent    

   

1. Call to Order 

 

Meeting recording started.  Meeting called to order at 07:00 pm.  

 

2.  Seating of Alternate(s) – none 

 

3. Additions/Changes/Deletions to Agenda – none 

 

4. Public Participation – issues of concern not on the agenda (2-minute limit) – none 

 

5. New Business 

 

5.1 Mobil Gas Spill – D’Amato said he received some documentation from DEEP related to the 56 

Merrow Road Incident.  He said it came as several attachments and he will batch them up and provide 

to the Commissioners for their review.   

 

6. Old Business  

 

6.1 Regulatory Review 

 

D’Amato said he reviewed all of the pertinent information he could and included them because they are 

important and come from guidance documents from DEEP and other sources like legal outlines.  Most 

are just for information of the Commission.  D’Amato said most of the information is for guidance and he 

did not see anything significant that this Commission needs to act upon. 

 

Culver asked about Preston versus Rabdon.  D’Amato said the take away is that if there is a violation that 

affects multiple property owners, even if the property owner is not in violation, they can be held partially 

responsible if they obstruct remediation/solution.  The Town can find the obstructionist in violation as 

well. Culver asked if there is a violation on property “A” and the only way to remediate is to access 

through property “B”, “A” is denied access by “B” then “B” can be found in violation as well and may 

have responsibility and contributing to an ongoing violation.  Penney said this is not a regulation thing 

but sets a precedence from a regulatory perspective when citing someone for a violation. 

 



Inlands Wetlands Commission – December 15, 2022   2 

 

Penney said asked about red line of the regulations identified as “4.2” which discusses allowing 

mechanicals of 15 sqft in a wetlands/watercourse as a matter of right.  He asked if that is a statutory 

change.  D’Amato said it would allow a situation for mechanicals to be attached to a home, for example a 

generator/heat pump, to be placed alongside a wetlands by right and does not need to go through the 

wetlands application process.  Ross said it is clear the size is limited to 15 sqft in size and asked what is 

the definition of “next to” and should this be adopted, a limit for what “next to” means should be 

included.  D’Amato said this is not case law but is in the regulations of other towns and for the 

Commissions consideration.  D’Amato said the Zoning regulations define “next to”.  Culver asked if the 

Inlands Wetlands Commission could reference those rules so the Commission regulations are the same.  

Penney said he would not be in favor of making this change.  He said putting mechanicals in a 

wetlands/watercourse as of right would not be the most reasonable and prudent alternative.  Penney said 

he would prefer if this kind of work would be part of an application process.  Tanner asked if the 

recommendation discusses placing the mechanicals in a wetlands/watercourse.  Penney and Culver affirm 

that section 4.2 provides that a property owner has certain as of right uses for their property and in this 

case, incudes placing this pad in a wetlands/watercourse area.  D’Amato also discusses the regulations 

are set up to delegate certain authority for what is permitted as an Agent Issued Permit but there is no 

other mechanism for activity that does not require any permit.   

 

Culver said if the Commission doesn’t make a change, then the property owner would need to apply for a 

permit.  D’Amato agreed.  Culver said he agreed with Penney that this type of activity should not be as of 

right.  Ross agreed.  Penney said he was in support of planning the public hearing to update the 

regulations and update the fees as appropriate. 

 

Ross said he agrees and identified that 7.2 should be 7.1 and requested correction.  Ross agreed that the 

rest of the modifications make sense. 

 

Culver asked about the process going forward.  D’Amato said he has to refer the proposed changes to 

DEEP for comment.  D’Amato said in his experience, DEEP usually does provide some comments but 

that the Commission could plan the public hearing for the February meeting.  He said if there are 

comments he could bring it back to the Commission for the January meeting, Penney said if regulatory 

changes are needed for the Atlantic white cedars those could be handled at the same public hearing in 

February 2023. 

 

6.2 Bolton Lakes Watershed Conservation Alliance Discussion 

 

D’Amato provided a new map with different layers that outline the wetlands, the 100-foot buffer area as 

well as the proposed 300-foot buffer.  Commissioners expressed concern that in the southern area, 

extending the buffer would impact several properties that are occupied along Cedar Swamp Road.   It 

would take some of those areas and make them regulated which with the 100-foot buffer are outside of 

the area. 

 

Penney said he reviewed the map as well as the 300-foot buffer and its possible impacts.  Penney 

suggested defining the wetlands as 300 feet from the wetland’s boundary.  Penney said discussed his 

areas of concern and if the area could be defined and mapped.  He said if the limits are defined by the 

wetlands there would be less of an impact for the properties on Bread and Milk Road.   Penney said the 

limits of the wetlands could be further defined. 

 



Inlands Wetlands Commission – December 15, 2022   3 

 

Culver said there will be an increase in the number of properties and those property owners would need 

to come before the Commission regarding any activities that are not considered as of right.  Penney 

reviewed the properties that might be impacted.  Penney said one of the properties may be a farm and 

might have more as of right activities.  Penney said the 300 foot on the map was taken from the 

approximate edges of the state wetlands, not the Atlantic Cedars.  Penney said the exact location of the 

wetlands and cedars are and would be the responsibility of an applicant to delineate the 

wetlands/watercourse and boundaries could be moved based on new information.  Penney said he is still 

unclear about what activities could damage the area and Atlantic White Cedars.  D’Amato said the 300 

feet would include properties on the opposite side of the road.  D’Amato questioned whether because of 

the unique characteristics we could draw a unique boundary.  Culver said this map would the same as 

what any other person who proposed activities in a wetland.  D’Amato said any applicant could have 

wetlands delineated and a map could be changed based on present conditions and a map amendment 

could be made.   

 

D'Amato asked if a 200-foot buffer could be adequate.  Ross said he is concerned about including 

properties on the other side of Cedar Swamp Road.   Penney asked about the cul de sac and whether there 

is a business in that area.   

 

Ross said all of the forest is in a wetland and any project would have to come before the commission for 

a permit.  Penney said he does not see any activity in the foreseeable future.  Penney asked any of the 

areas could be intensified and impact the Atlantic White Cedar.  Penney said he does not believe he has 

received information to define what conditions could negatively impact the Atlantic White Cedars; is it 

stormwater, change in temperature, acidity, etc.?  Penney asked D’Amato to generate a report with how 

many properties and homes are currently affected by review area versus how many would be affected if 

the limit was changed to 300 feet.  D’Amato agreed.  Penney said he would like to hold the wetlands line 

to include the cedars only and that would be the actual wetlands that would have a 300-foot boundary. 

 

Ross asked if there was a reason that 300 feet was chosen.  Hoehne said Koss requested 300 feet.  

Hoehne said he brought up 200 feet because the regulations state we can double the limit.  Ross said 300 

feet is encroaching on a lot of properties and 200 feet seems more reasonable.  Penney said we are more 

protective of certain land characteristics have different upland review areas and different protections and 

that maybe a clause which could state that if there are Atlantic Cedars are within a wetlands the wetlands 

buffer area increases to 200 feet.  Commissioners agreed.  Hoehne pointed out that areas of increased 

slopes have increased protection in the regulation presently.  Culver asked if with clause if the entire 

wetlands in that system will have a buffer increase or only in the area of the Cedars.  Penney said that 

was why he wanted to limit the line.  Ross said the Commission could do what it thinks is best and an 

applicant could apply for a permit and an exception to the regulation. 

 

D’Amato said when he spoke to Darcy from DEEP, she said the Commission could have a resource 

specific upland review area.  He said the Commission could create that area based on the map as 

presented.  The area would need to be clearly defined and mapped.   Penney asked if a line could be 

delineated from the edge of the cedars.  D’Amato said yes, because it is resource specific that the 

Commission is trying to protect.   

 

Culver said in one area the cedars extend beyond the GIS wetlands layer, would those Cedars still be 

protected.  Culver asked if the wetlands boundary was used it would provide protection for the 200 feet.  

Penney said the accuracy of the wetlands line may need to be further delineated because it is not a field 

delineation, it is based off of soil mapping from DEEP and may vary a little and the Cedar locations may 



Inlands Wetlands Commission – December 15, 2022   4 

 

need further delineation as well.  Penney said the wetlands limit line should be held to up until the upland 

area and may include a watercourse and may flow in a westerly direction towards Bolton Lake. D’Amato 

provided a map without the wetlands.  Ross said he is in favor of a resource specific delineation as long 

as the resource is the delineation wetlands and extended as needed. 

 

Penney suggested 200 -250 feet as long as the cedar is in the wetlands we can ask for a buffer to that 

resource.  An applicant would need to map the wetlands and the Atlantic White Cedar boundary and the 

review area should be measured from there.  Commissioners agreed that the commission can only protect 

wetlands and watercourses and the resources within the wetlands.  D’Amato pointed out one small area 

where the cedars extend beyond the 50-foot buffer.   

 

D'Amato confirmed a resource specific area 200 feet around the Atlantic White Cedars from a field 

delineated wetlands boundary.  Commissioners agreed.  Penney said that is consistent with the land 

characteristic buffer requirements that is present with other types of land characteristics.  Penney asked 

that language would be part of the text amendments and part of the public hearing and provide notices to 

all of the abutters within the 200 feet.  Penney said the record would need to show why we are making 

this change.  Penney said rationale should be included in the text amendment as to why.   Penney said he 

is for it as long as it is a sensitive resource.  Ross said Koss had mentioned that this is the last non-coastal 

Atlantic White Cedar swamp.  D’Amato said he reviewed some maps and there may be other areas.  

Penney said the Commission may want certain vetting of the claim of sensitive resource.  Penney said he 

used the number of 200 feet because 300 feet seemed a little arduous to the abutters. 

 

D’Amato asked if we would amend the definition of the upland review in the regulations.  Penney said 

yes and Commissioners agreed.  Penney read the regulation and asked if the area is unique and/or easily 

damaged ecosystem.  Penney said that the regulations already have 200 feet defined.  Commission could 

add that an Atlantic White Cedar Forest is at risk for damage and that damaged wetlands or watercourses 

that have Atlantic White Cedar Forest are protected to 200 feet. Commissioners agreed that this section 

of the regulations requires additional clarification.  D’Amato said he will try to find an old paper copy of 

the regulations and see if clarifications could be made.  Penney suggested the following wording: 50-foot 

upland review from a wetland.  100-foot upland review from a watercourse/water body and 200-foot 

upland review area for a wetland and/or watercourse with Atlantic White Cedar Forest.  The width can 

also be doubled when the following other conditions exist: when the existing slopes are greater than 15%.  

This would mean that if the wetlands with Atlantic Cedars had areas of 15% slopes than the area could be 

protected to 400 feet.   Penney asked if the regulations already have the mechanism to double it to 200 

feet because of the unique/sensitive nature of the Atlantic White Cedars.  Ross said yes because this area 

is a sensitive ecosystem.  Culver pointed out that a swamp is considered a watercourse in the regulations.  

Penney suggested that a definition could be added that the Atlantic White Cedar area is considered a 

sensitive ecosystem.  D’Amato confirmed that a swamp is considered a watercourse and would be 

protected to at least 100 feet.  D’Amato said one of the options during initial discussions was to do 

nothing because this area is largely regulated and not buildable and already within the Inlands Wetlands 

Commission jurisdiction.  D’Amato said this could run through the public hearing process and make a 

decision from there. 

 

Penney said the present condition of the regulations should be clarified and add a definition of what a 

sensitive ecosystem is and include the Atlantic White Cedar as a sensitive ecosystem.  Penney said there 

should be backup/testimony as to why the Commission needs to designate the Atlantic White Cedar area 

as a sensitive ecosystem.  Culver asked D’Amato to resend the Bolton Lakes Watershed Conservation 



Inlands Wetlands Commission – December 15, 2022   5 

 

Alliance report.  Ross said the definitions should be updated and would then cover this area.  Culver 

agreed.   

 

Culver requested the following from D’Amato: 

1.  Remove 4.2 from the redline 

2. Create a draft of language to update the definition of upland review area 

3. Resent report 

4. Complete some research for justification for increasing upland review area to 200 feet 

 

D’Amato asked if the properties within 100 feet versus 200 feet report needs to be created.  

Commissioners agreed is was not necessary because the regulations already permit the proposed change. 

 

7. Wetlands Agent Report – none 

 

8. Other Business – none 

 

9. Correspondence - none 

 

10. Approval of Minutes –   November 17, 2022 Regular Meeting  

 

Penney/Tanner:  Motion to approve the minutes from November 17, 2022 minutes as presented. 

 

 Culver – Y, Penney – Y, Ross – Y, Tanner – Y, Hoehne – Y 

  

 Unanimously approved. 

  

11. Adjourn 

 

Penney/Ross: motion to adjourn. 

 

Culver – Y, Penney – Y, Ross – Y, Tanner – Y, Hoehne – Y 

  

 Unanimously approved. 

  

Meeting adjourned at 8:10pm 

 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

 
June Kausch 

Clerk, Inland Wetlands Commission 


	Agenda
	Section 5.1 - IWC 18-1 Extension
	Section 9 - Correspondence
	CBA Education and Training
	Solitude Lake Management - DEEP Application

	Section 10 - Approval of Meeting Minutes of 12/15/2022

